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A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to increasing the penalties for violations of the community right-to-know law.

On October 30, 2003, the Committee on Environmental Protection held a hearing 

on Int. No. 122, which would amend the Administrative Code, in relation to reporting requirements pursuant to the Community Right-to-Know (CRTK) law and Int. No. 585, which would amend the Administrative Code, in relation to increasing the penalties for violations of the CRTK.  In light of testimony that was heard at that hearing and information gathered thereafter, the two pieces of legislation were amended, resulting in Proposed Int. No. 122-A and Proposed Int. No. 585-A. 

I.
Community Right-to-Know Law

Local Law 26, also known as the New York City Community Right-to-Know Law, was passed by the City Council in 1988 (Local Law number 26 of the year 1988, as amended, Administrative Code §§ 24-701 through 24-718).  The purpose of the law is to protect the environment, the health and safety of community members and emergency response personnel, by providing information about the exposure to and dangers associated with the storage, use and handling of hazardous substances, extremely hazardous substances (EHS) and regulated toxic substances.  The “Right-To-Know Program is implemented, managed and enforced by the New York City Department of Environmental Protection [DEP].”
  The Program “receives thousands of inventory reports from businesses and government agencies that detail the amounts and locations of a variety of chemicals present in various facilities throughout the City.”
  According to the DEP, a total of 5,199 facility inspections were completed in Fiscal Year 2003.
  In addition, the DEP has reported that

One thousand one hundred and fifty-two new facilities have been identified by the RTK [Right-To-Know] Program and added to the Citywide Facility Inventory Database (CFID).  This is more than the preceding year, when 842 new facilities were identified.  In addition, 750 Notices of Violation (NOV) have been issued to facilities for noncompliance.
  The majority of the NOV’s are for Failure to File a Facility Inventory Form (FIF) and Incomplete Filings.

Also, during Fiscal Year 2003, the DEP “responded to 1,695 hazmat [hazardous material] complaints, all within one hour.“

The following explanation of the CRTK Law is intended to be a broad overview only.  Please refer to sections 24-701 through 24-718 of the Administrative Code for the full provisions of the law.

A.
Facility Inventory Reporting

On or before March 1st of each year, responsible parties of facilities are required to file FIFs for each substance on the DEP hazardous substance list or special health hazards list that was present at the facility during the preceding calendar year in an amount that is in excess of the threshold planning quantities set forth in DEP’s hazardous substance list (Administrative Code § 24-706(a).
  This list is set forth in Chapter 41 of Title 15 of the RCNY, at §41-04).  

FIFs contain information pertaining to hazardous substances present at facilities, such as: the name of each hazardous substance; an estimate of the number of days the substance has been located at the facility and the specific location of each hazardous substance present at the facility during the preceding calendar year; and a brief description of the manner of storage of each hazardous substance.  Persons may withhold trade secrets from submission, however, and the DEP may withhold trade secrets from disclosure to the public (Administrative Code § 24-709). 

The FIFs must be updated in the event that “a previously unreported hazardous substance is added at a facility or if an already reported quantity of a hazardous substance increases by twenty-five percent or more, within thirty days of the occurrence of such event. . . ." (Administrative Code § 24-706(a)).

Responsible parties of facilities must also file with the DEP, before March 1st of each year, a Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) for each hazardous substance stored at the facility (Administrative Code § 24-706(b)).  These MSDSs provide comprehensive information about the hazardous substance, itself, such as physical data -- including the boiling point, flammability and reactivity of a substance – toxicity, spill or leak procedures and health effects resulting from inhalation, ingestion or dermal contact.

The DEP has also established a schedule of fees that shall be paid upon the filing of the FIF (Administrative Code § 24-706).  The fees are “based on the amount of hazardous substances present, the number of different hazardous substances present and the type of hazardous substances present, including the presence or absence of substances classified as extremely hazardous in rules and regulations promulgated by The United States [E]nvironmental [P]rotection [A]gency pursuant to 42 U.S.C. section 11001, et seq.”
  According to the DEP 2003 Annual Report on Hazardous Materials Management in New York City, “Filing fees collected by the Right-To-Know Program increased from $2,571,332.00 in Fiscal Year 2002 to $2,636,279.79 in Fiscal Year 2003.”

B.
Risk Management Plans

Responsible parties of facilities where an EHS or regulated toxic substance is present in an amount that equals or exceeds the threshold planning quantities established by the United States Environmental Protection Agency are required to file Risk Management Plans (RMP) with the DEP (Local Law number 92 of the year 1993) (Administrative Code § 24-718).  The DEP collects and manages the information contained in these Plans.  The RMPs must include risk assessment, risk reduction and emergency response programs  (15 RCNY §§ 41-10 through 41-12).

In the event of a chemical spill or accident at any of these facilities, RMPs aid in reducing the risk to surrounding communities, facility workers and emergency response personnel by providing information to assist such personnel in the mitigation of these incidents.
 

C.
Citywide Facility Inventory Database (CFID)
DEP is required to develop a Citywide Facility Inventory Database from the information it has compiled pursuant to the CRTK program and make it available to the public (Administrative Code §§ 24-707 and 24-710).  The maintenance of the CFID is a function of the CRTK Program, which is administered by DEP’s Division of Emergency Response and Technical Assessment (DERTA).  To identify substances present during emergency responses, DEP, the Police and Fire Departments and other agencies, such as the Departments of Sanitation and Health, use the CFID.  In addition, the database has been valuable in determining areas of vulnerability for citywide emergency planning, and in providing information to elected officials, the public and the City’s Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC).  


The data for the Citywide Facility Inventory Database is collected pursuant to both the New York City CRTK Law and Title III of the Federal Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (SARA). 

D.
Labeling

Section 24-711 of the Administrative Code requires that, within thirty days after a FIF is first required to be filed for a facility, all hazardous substances present at that facility must be clearly marked with a label showing the chemical name and chemical abstracts service (CAS) number of the hazardous substance. 
E.
Penalties 

The Administrative Code (Subdivision (b) of § 24-713) imposes a civil penalty for violating the facility inventory form, labeling or risk management plan requirements of the CRTK law of $250 to $2,500 for a first violation, $1,750 to $5,000 for a second violation and $3,750 to $10,000 for all subsequent violations.  These violations may be recovered in a civil action brought in the name of the Commissioner of the DEP or in a proceeding before the Environmental Control Board.  Private citizens may also bring an enforcement action under prescribed circumstances (Administrative Code § 24-714).

II.
Proposed Int. No. 122-A



Proposed Int. No. 122-A amends subdivision (a) of section 24-715 of the Administrative Code of New York City by requiring that additional information be included in the annual report concerning the CRTK that the DEP must submit to the Mayor and the Council by October first of each year.  In addition to what the DEP must currently include in this report, the bill requires that the DEP also include information concerning enforcement of the CRTK law and the “Spill Bill”, formally, the Hazardous Substances Emergency Response Law, contained in Chapter Six of Title 24 of the Code.  



Proposed Int. No. 122-A states that the report shall include the number of violations issued pursuant to the CRTK law and Chapter Six of Title 24 of the Code;
 the number of orders issued by the Commissioner of Environmental Protection pursuant to subdivision (a) of section 24-608 of Title 24 of the Code and the nature of such orders; and, the number of civil actions and administrative proceedings commenced under Chapter 6 of Title 24 of the Code.  Chapter Six pertains to hazardous substance emergencies and includes section 24-608, which provides that the Commissioner of Environmental Protection may order the implementation of response measures where he or she has reason to believe that there has been a release or there exists a substantial threat of a release into the environment of a hazardous substance that presents an imminent and substantial danger to public health, welfare or the environment.



Proposed Int. No. 122-A differs from Int. No. 122 with respect to a few changes that were added to make the bill and the current law more technically correct.  Proposed Int. No. 122-A reflects the precise language included in section 24-715 of the Administrative Code, thus containing underlined text where such text does not currently appear in such section.  



In addition, Int. No. 122 incorrectly refers to a portion of the Administrative Code, with the new requirement that the DEP shall include in its annual CRTK report the “number of violations issued pursuant to this title and title six of this chapter” (emphasis supplied).  Proposed Int. No. 122-A corrects that reference, requiring that the DEP shall include “the number of violations issued pursuant to this chapter and chapter six of this title (emphasis supplied).”  Proposed Int. No. 122-A also amends the text contained in Int. No. 122 concerning the second element to be added to the DEP’s annual CRTK report by referring to § 24-608 of this title rather than § 24-608 of this code. 



Finally, Proposed Int. No. 122-A amends grammatically incorrect language currently included in Section 24-715 of the Code, which Int. No. 122 did not do.  Such language now states that the DEP shall include in its annual CRTK report “the number of releases of hazardous substance reported to, or otherwise documented by the department”.  (emphasis added)   Proposed Int. No. 122-A changes the word “substance” to “substances”.



Section two of Proposed Int. No. 122-A states that the bill shall become effective immediately upon its enactment into law.

III.

Proposed Int. No. 585-A


Proposed Int. No. 585-A primarily amends section 24-713 of the Administrative Code of New York City by doubling the current penalties that may be assessed for violations of the CRTK law.  

The legislation increases the potential penalty contained in subdivision (a) of section 24-713 for knowingly or recklessly making any false statement, representation or certification on a Facility Inventory Form, Risk Management Plan, or any other document filed with the DEP, or on any label required pursuant to the CRTK law, from not more than one thousand to not more than two thousand dollars.  

Proposed Int. No. 585-A also amends subdivision (a) to state that, in addition to its application to any other person, the penalty provided for in that subdivision shall be deemed a special fine for a corporation within the meaning of section 80.10 of the Penal Law of New York State.  That section of the Penal Law allows a court to fix a fine of an amount not exceeding double the amount of the corporation’s gain from the commission of the offense.  This language was moved from its location in subdivision (b) of Int. No. 585, since that bill incorrectly added the special fine to a subdivision that refers to a civil, rather than a criminal, penalty.



Proposed Int. No. 585-A amends subdivision (b) of section 24-713 by increasing the potential penalty that may be assessed for violating the requirements of sections 24-706, 24-711 or 24-718 of the Code.  As mentioned above, section 24-706 of the Code requires a facility to annually submit to the DEP FIFs and MSDSs for hazardous substances present at the facility.  Section 24-711 of the Code requires that all hazardous substances at a facility are clearly marked with a label showing the chemical name and the Chemical Abstract Service identification number of the hazardous substance.  Section 24-718 of the Code requires that facilities that meet certain threshold requirements file a Risk Management Plan with the DEP, which is to include risk assessment, risk reduction and emergency response programs.   

The potential penalty for such violations would be changed from an amount not less than two hundred fifty nor more than two thousand five hundred dollars to an amount not less than five hundred nor more than five thousand dollars for a first violation; from an amount not less than one thousand seven hundred fifty nor more than five thousand dollars to an amount not less than three thousand five hundred nor more than ten thousand dollars for a second violation; and, from an amount not less than three thousand seven hundred fifty nor more than ten thousand dollars to an amount not less than seven thousand five hundred nor more than twenty thousand dollars for a third or subsequent violation.  

Proposed Int. No. 585-A deletes the sentence contained in Int. No. 585, which explicitly states that each day of noncompliance and each substance for which there is a failure to comply shall constitute a separate offense. 

Proposed Int. No. 585-A further states that a second or subsequent violation occurs when a person violates sections 24-706, 24-711 or 24-718 of the Code after having been found to have violated any section of the CRTK law within the last five years.  It is currently unclear as to the timeframe within which a violation must occur to be deemed a subsequent violation.  Furthermore, in order to encourage the voluntary disclosure of violations, thus decreasing the enforcement burden on the DEP, the bill states that the voluntary disclosure of a violation shall be considered in determining a civil penalty.



Proposed Int. No. 585-A amends subdivision (c) of section 24-713 by increasing the maximum potential civil penalty for refusing to allow an inspection of a facility pursuant to section 24-712 of the CRTK law from ten thousand dollars to twenty thousand dollars.  


Section two of the bill provides that it shall take effect sixty days after its enactment.  

Proposed Int. No. 122-A

By Council Members Gennaro, Avella, Brewer, DeBlasio, and Liu; also Council Member Quinn

..Title

A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to reporting requirements pursuant to the community right‑to‑know law.

..Body

Be it enacted by the Council as follows:
    
Section 1.  Subdivision a of section 24‑715 of the administrative code of the city of New York is amended to read as follows:

    
§24‑715 Annual Report. (a) The commissioner shall annually review the facility inventory forms and material safety data sheets filed with the department pursuant to this chapter and citywide facility inventory data. Upon making this annual review, the commissioner shall forward a report to the mayor and the council no later than October first of each year[, beginning in nineteen hundred eighty‑nine]. Such annual report shall, at a minimum, provide the following information: the number of facilities for which facility inventory forms have been filed pursuant to this chapter; the number of complaints received; the number of civilian complaints filed; the number of inspections performed pursuant to this chapter; the number of notices of violation issued pursuant to this chapter and chapter six of this title; the number of orders issued by the commissioner pursuant to subdivision a of section 24‑608 of this title and the nature of such orders; the number of civil actions and administrative proceedings commenced under this chapter and chapter six of this title and the dispositions thereof; the number of incidents in which the department participated in response measures undertaken in connection with hazardous substances; the number of releases of hazardous [substance] substances reported to, or otherwise documented by the department; the number of emergency response personnel in each city agency which performs functions in connection with emergencies involving hazardous substances; and the average response time and cost of each member of the city's emergency response personnel.

    
§2. This local law shall take effect immediately upon its enactment into law.

DCD
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Proposed Int. No. 585-A

By Council Members Gennaro, Avella, Brewer, Comrie, Gerson, Koppell, Quinn, Sanders, Sears, Weprin, Yassky, Felder and Nelson

..Title

A Local Law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to increasing the penalties for violations of the community right-to-know law.

..Body

..

Be it enacted by the Council as follows: 

Section 1. Section 24-713 of the administrative code of the city of New York is amended to read as follows:

§ 24-713 Violations. (a) Any person who knowingly or recklessly makes any false statement, representation or certification on a facility inventory form, risk management plan, or any other document filed with the department, or on any label required, pursuant to this chapter, shall, upon conviction, be subject to a fine of not more than [one] two thousand dollars, or imprisonment of up to one year, or both.  In addition to its application to any other person, the penalty provided for in this subdivision shall be deemed a special fine for a corporation within the meaning of section 80.10 of the penal law of the state of New York. 

(b) Any person who violates the requirements of sections 24-706, 24-711 or 24-718 of this chapter shall be liable for a civil penalty, as follows: (1) for a first violation, in an amount of not less than [two hundred fifty] five hundred nor more than [two thousand five hundred] five thousand dollars; (2) for a second violation, in an amount of not less than [one thousand seven hundred fifty] three thousand five hundred nor more than [five] ten thousand dollars; and (3) for each subsequent violation, in an amount of not less than [three thousand seven hundred fifty] seven thousand five hundred nor more than [ten] twenty thousand dollars.  For purposes of this section, the second and any subsequent violation shall only occur after notice of the first violation has been properly served and an opportunity to cure said violation has been provided to the violator, provided that such opportunity to cure shall not exceed thirty days.  For purposes of this section, a second or subsequent violation shall occur where a person violates section 24-706, 24-711 or 24-718 of this chapter within five years of having been found to have violated this chapter.  Such penalties may be recovered in a civil action brought in the name of the commissioner or in a proceeding before the environmental control board.  In determining the civil penalty, the hearing officer or judge shall consider any evidence presented by the defendant showing a good faith effort to comply with relevant requirements of this chapter, the nature and seriousness of the defendant's violation of the chapter, whether the violation was voluntarily disclosed, previous violations, if any, of this chapter and any other evidence found to be relevant. 

(c) Any person who without justification refuses to allow an inspection of a facility pursuant to section 24-712 of this chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty, returnable before the environmental control board or in civil court in the name of the commissioner, in an amount not to exceed [ten] twenty thousand dollars. 

 § 2. This local law shall take effect sixty days after its enactment. 
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� 2003 Annual Report – Hazardous Materials Management in New York City, New York City Department of Environmental Protection (“2003 Annual Report”, p. 2.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id., p. 3.


� The Mayor’s Management Report – Fiscal 2003, City of New York, p. 76.


� A “responsible party” is defined to mean “an owner, operator, manager, or corporate officer of the person who owns, leases or operates a facility, provided that if such facility is leased, the responsible party shall be the lessee of the facility or his or her representative (Administrative Code § 24-702(s)).  A "hazardous substance" is defined to mean ". . . any chemical which is a physical hazard or a health hazard and which is listed on [DEP's] . . . hazardous substance list or special health hazard list. . . ." (Administrative Code § 24-702(k)).


� New York City Charter and Code, Administrative Code, Title 24, § 24-706.


� 2003 Annual Report, p. 10.


� This text is incorrect and should read “Chapter 6 of this Title”.
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